STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

JAN - 3 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYREL R. COLLINS,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000877

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial judge's erroneous limitation on the introduction of evidence of the deceased's reputation in the community where the evidence was necessary to Petitioner's presentation of a complete defense and where the prosecutor opened the door to such evidence during his opening statement?

- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding Petitioner's second trial was not barred by double jeopardy where the grant of the mistrial during defense counsel's opening statement at the first trial was not dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice after consideration of all the facts and circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 10, 2012, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2012-GS-10-5449) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2012-GS-10-5452). R. 380-381; R. 383-384. Almost one year later, on September 9, 2013, the state, represented by Stephanie B. Linder and Gregory Voigt, called the case for trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and a jury. Jason T. King and Luke J. Malloy, III, represented Petitioner. R. 1. During defense counsel's opening statement, the prosecutor objected to some remarks and moved for a mistrial. R. 22, line 23 – R. 23, line 17. Ultimately, Judge Nicholson granted the prosecutor's motion for a mistrial. R. 35, lines 3-11.

The state, again represented by Linder and Voigt, called the case for a second trial on January 6, 2014, before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., and a jury. King and Malloy represented Petitioner. R. 36. Petitioner immediately moved to bar his prosecution based on double jeopardy. R. 37, line 1. Ultimately, Judge Young held the granting of the mistrial did not bar the subsequent prosecution of Petitioner. R. 58, lines 18-24. At the conclusion of the second trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 368, lines 11-16. Judge Young sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for the murder conviction. R. 369, line 21; R. 382. Judge Young did not impose a sentence on the gun charge because he had sentenced Petitioner to life without parole on the murder charge. R. 369, lines 22-23; R. 385.

On January 16, 2014, Petitioner moved Judge Young to reconsider his sentence. R. 375-376. The state responded on January 17, 2014. R. 377-378. By an order filed on January 24, 2014, Judge Young denied the request for reconsideration. R. 379.

On January 31, 2014, Petitioner filed and served his notice of appeal, which was perfected by undersigned counsel. A three-judge panel of the Court of Appeals, which included

the Honorable Paul E. Short, Jr., the Honorable Paula H. Thomas, and the Honorable John D. Geathers, decided the case without oral argument on January 20, 2016. State v. Collins, 2016-UP-034 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 20, 2016); App. 1-3. On February 4, 2016, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 4-19. The Court of Appeals denied rehearing on March 24, 2016. App. 20.

On May 13, 2016, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari. On June 9, 2016, the state filed its return. On December 1, 2016, this Court granted the petition and ordered briefing. Pursuant to Rule 242(i), SCACR, Petitioner files this brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the notorious East Side of Charleston, on October 27, 2011, Solomon Chisolm was shot while he and three others were playing cards on bleachers in a park. R. 144, line 7 – R. 145, line 24. Raymond Clement, one of the card players and Chisolm's brother, ran away after the shots were fired. R. 148, lines 22-24. Later, at the trial, Clement would claim that while running away, he saw Petitioner, without anything covering his face, get into a car and ride away. R. 150, lines 3-16. After some time away, Clement returned to the park. R. 150, lines 17-21. Oddly, however, Clement did not speak to the police, despite the presence of many officers at the park. R. 151, lines 1-15.

The following day, Clement saw police officers at Petitioner's mother's home. R. 153, lines 19-25. On that same day, the police approached Clement and questioned him about the shooting. R. 154, lines 1-8. Although Clement would claim at trial that Petitioner was the shooter, he did not tell the police this vital information on the day following his brother's death. According to Clement, "the East Side is known, you know, like you tell on somebody, you cooperate with the police, there's going to be harm for you and your family or whatever. So I didn't want to get involved at first." R. 154, lines 12-19. Although Clement essentially claimed that on the East Side, "snitches get stitches," and that his fear of said stitches influenced his decision not to cooperate with the police concerning the shooting of his brother, he was forced to admit he had been an informant for local *and* federal law enforcement officers for several years. In fact, the information he provided to the police had resulted in the arrests and convictions of "a lot of people." R. 167, lines 11-24; R. 169, line 10 – R. 170, line 11.

Over the course of the investigation, Clement claimed Petitioner shot Chisolm. R. 148, lines 15-21. Although he recanted his statement to police that Petitioner was the shooter,

Clement testified against Petitioner at the trial. R. 160, line 1 – R. 161, line 14. Perhaps unsurprisingly, at the time of the trial, Clement had a pending reckless homicide charge, which was being prosecuted by the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office, the same office prosecuting Petitioner. R. 167, lines 1-3; R. 170, lines 12-19. Clement described the shooter as brown-skinned, tall, slim, wearing a black T-shirt, blue jeans, and a shirt over his head. R. 149, lines 14-19. Although the initial officer who interviewed Clement testified that he noticed no wound on Clement, Clement told the jurors he was, in fact, shot in the leg during the incident. R. 94, lines 4-9; R. 149, lines 20-22.

The first trial

The solicitor delivered his opening statement to the jury, primarily discussing the history of the area where the alleged murder occurred – the East Side of Charleston. He wanted to give the jury “some perspective on what we face in this particular community.” R. 15, lines 20-21. He began by discussing the plans of Henry Laurens, “a great South Carolina patriot,” for the area in the 1760s. R. 15, lines 22-24. According to the solicitor, the area contained “the largest concentration of freed slaves in Charleston” after the Civil War. R. 16, lines 8-14. Thereafter, the area “became a working-class neighborhood.” R. 16, lines 15-19. He then described how the East Side had been affected by “cruelty of Jim Crow, segregation, [and] hard economic times.” R. 17, line 13 – R. 18, line 4. He claimed “[t]he East Side became a tough place, tough place to raise a family, tough place to do business, tough place to do police work.” R. 18, lines 4-6.

The solicitor promised the jury a “flavor of the East Side” during the trial: “In all of our Charleston neighborhoods, this was perhaps one of the most lawless. This has the highest incidence of illiteracy, highest unemployment rate, fewest college degrees. ... And the problem with lawlessness is that it breeds lawlessness.” R. 18, lines 16-22. Due to what the solicitor

described as the “lawlessness” of the East Side, the jurors would hear “substantially less” evidence in this case than in others. In the East Side, “[t]here’s a cultural bias against working with the police for any reason. There’s genuine fear in the streets for cooperating with the police for any reason.” This fear and cultural bias “shape[d]” how the solicitor had “to tell this story to [the jury], how the evidence [he got] to present and what the witnesses [said].” R. 18, line 23 – R. 19, line 8.

According to the solicitor, on the East Side, “[i]t’s real ... and it’s palpable.” Here, “people don’t tell their stories and people count on people not telling their stories and not explaining things and not seeing what they saw. This was a lawless area.” R. 19, lines 9-14. He provoked the jurors with images of Wild Bill and warned against allowing lawlessness: “[W]e can’t allow lawlessness. We can’t allow our streets to be this way.” R. 19, lines 15-22.

The solicitor went to great pains to tell the jury that the state did not have to prove motive in the case. Although the solicitor had an idea of motive, he was not required to prove “the why.” He warned the jury that this may not be satisfactory to them, but the state was not required to prove motive. R. 20, line 19 – R. 21, line 6.

Then, defense counsel began his opening statement: “Good morning. The solicitor talked about the East Side. This is the East Side, the common area. And Solomon Chisolm was legendary in this area as a killer.” R. 22, lines 19-22. The solicitor immediately objected, and the judge excused the jury to consider the objection. R. 22, line 23 – R. 23, line 17. The solicitor argued a mistrial was necessary “because he’s now rung a bell that we can’t unring.” He further argued it was “designed to be improper,” “designed to come out before an objection [could] be made,” “designed to be heard so it can’t be unheard.” Thus, he argued, “there’s no curative instruction that fixes it.” R. 24, lines 4-13; see also R. 24, line 25 – R. 25, line 1. He

noted that the deceased was never convicted of any homicide, but agreed that was not the same as not being a killer. The solicitor was incensed that defense counsel had made the remark when he had "no burden to prove anything, no obligation to prove anything." He accused defense counsel of "drop[ping] a bomb," "slinging mud and trying to prejudice" the jury. R. 102, lines 14-24. The prosecutor *admitted* the evidence of the deceased's violent history would be admissible during the trial, but he took umbrage with defense counsel mentioning it during his opening statement. R. 27, line 19 – R. 28, line 1.

The trial judge determined that telling the jury that "he's a legendary killer is totally improper." R. 25, lines 6-10. When the judge inquired how the opening related to the deceased's reputation for violence, defense counsel explained that his remarks went directly to the deceased's reputation in the community for having killed a dozen people. R. 25, line 11 – R. 26, line 8. According to defense counsel, the "point" was that due to his reputation as a legendary killer, "[a]ny number of people could have wanted to kill him." R. 26, lines 12-15; R. 29, line 17 – R. 30, line 4. When, the judge asked what proof defense counsel had to support this contention, defense counsel noted he could ask Raymond Clement, the deceased's brother, and the leading detective in the present case because he had worked cases where the deceased was the prime suspect. R. 26, lines 9-15. Defense counsel noted a recent newspaper article chronicling the "legend" surrounding the deceased due to his history of violent crimes, including three murder charges in less than four months. R. 27, lines 7-18. The newspaper headline was "Killing claims man named one of Charleston's worst criminals." R. 27, lines 7-9. The article described the deceased as "long considered one of the city's worst criminals." R. 27, lines 9-11. The article explained that the Charleston Police named the deceased "to a list of its most hard-

core offenders after a string of violent crimes. He more than lived up to the reputation racking up three murder charges in less than four months during that period.” R. 27, lines 12-16.

Further, defense counsel explained the evidence responded directly to the solicitor’s opening statement about motive. R. 26, lines 16-19; R. 33, line 24 – R. 34, line 3. As defense counsel described any number of people had a reason to kill the deceased because he was in the drug business and was believed to have killed many people. R. 34, lines 1-3. The judge responded that the deceased “may be a blue ribbon killer that killed the sorriest son of a bitch in Charleston ... but that’s not the point.” R. 34, ll. 4-6.

The judge found defense counsel’s statement was “very clearly improper in opening statement”; however, he noted “[i]t would have been perfectly proper in closing arguments.” R. 30, line 22 – R. 31, line 10. The judge also determined that defense counsel could prove the deceased’s reputation in the community throughout the course of the trial; however, where he had “a problem” was “in making that argument in opening statements.” R. 31, line 24 – R. 32, line 1. According to the judge, defense had “to offer some foundation before [he could] just stand up there and say, hey, he’s a legendary killer.” He then analogized the situation to “ask[ing] some woman is she a prostitute if you don’t have any basis to know that she’s a prostitute.” The judge admonished defense counsel that he had “to have some foundation, some basis of what you are doing, not something you read in a damn newspaper.” R. 35, ll. 8-10. Thereafter, he granted the state’s motion for a mistrial. R. 35, lines 3-11.

Importantly, the judge made no findings regarding the mistrial being granted as a product of manifest necessity or to the ends of public justice. The judge went through no discussion of alternatives to granting a mistrial and why those alternatives were not viable. Perhaps most importantly, the judge indicated that the presentation of the proposed evidence would be proper

and even that counsel's argument would have been proper in closing argument, but decided to grant a mistrial because defense counsel's statements were made during opening, which was intended to be non-argumentative.

The second trial

The state, again represented by Linder and Voigt, called the case for a second trial on January 6, 2014, before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. and a jury. King and Malloy represented Petitioner. R. 36. Petitioner moved to bar his prosecution based on double jeopardy. R. 37, line 1. Defense counsel noted the solicitor's opening statement discussed the high crime rate in the East Side during the first trial. R. 52, lines 20-23. Further, defense counsel argued the mistrial was "improperly granted and not dictated by manifest necessity." He explained that a "curative instruction could have been given" and that nothing he said was evidence. R. 53, lines 2-8.

The solicitor argued that defense counsel failed to object to the granting of the mistrial motion. Additionally, he argued the defense acquiesced. R. 53, line 15 – R. 55, line 9. When questioned by the judge regarding the clear evidence in the record that defense counsel argued against the motion, the solicitor pontificated:

I've done this from both sides. And I taught myself to protect the record. And objecting on the record, especially in mistrials, is how we get the ball rolling. It's how we keep the record intact for our client. It's not hard to do. It's not a magic formula. But there are magic words. And just -- like I said, the essence of that transcript argument is not an objection to the granting of the mistrial. It's an explanation as to why he shouldn't be held in contempt and why what he did was not a purposeful act, why he thought he could do it, despite the fact that he could not.

R. 55, line 19 – R. 56, line 4. The solicitor repeated his argument that the "bell could not have been on unrung. Those things could not have been unsaid." R. 56, lines 5-11; R. 57, lines 8-9 ("I don't think you could have put that genie back in the bottle"). According to the solicitor, "a

mistrial was the easiest, cleanest way of cauterizing and removing that particular stain from that trial.” R. 56, lines 12 – 15.

Defense counsel pointed to where he argued against the mistrial motion and argued in favor of his presenting the relevant evidence to the jury. R. 57, lines 16-21. Additionally, defense counsel explained that a jury instruction to disregard his statement in opening would have cured any error. Further, defense counsel argued there existed no manifest necessity to order a mistrial. R. 58, lines 3-12.

The trial judge found it was “clear” that defense counsel argued against the motion and did not acquiesce in the granting of the mistrial. According to the trial judge, defense counsel was not required to “say the magic words ‘I’ll object.’” R. 58, lines 13-17. However, the trial judge found that Judge Nicholson “acted within his sound discretion to grant a mistrial.” He determined “there was clearly a misunderstanding of what [defense counsel] could and couldn’t say.” After noting that “it was brought about by the defense, and not by the prosecution,” the trial judge held the granting of the mistrial did not bar the subsequent prosecution of the Petitioner. R. 58, lines 18-24.

Additionally, the solicitor moved to bar evidence of the deceased’s reputation. R. 38, line 23 – R. 39, line 4. Defense counsel argued evidence of the deceased’s reputation was relevant because “[h]e was the most notorious person in that area in a long time,” including being “accused of three different murders” and “rumored to have killed anywhere from eight to a dozen people.” R. 39, lines 10-17. Further, defense counsel noted he wanted to use the evidence to show “there could have been any number of people who would have wanted to kill Solomon Chisolm, because of the enemies that he made and the reputation.” R. 40, lines 4-7. The judge

refused to permit the introduction of evidence on this basis stating that defense would have to “present a little bit more evidence” than that. R. 40, lines 8-12.

According to defense counsel, four days before the deceased’s death, Petitioner had been a passenger in a car on the interstate when the driver was shot and killed. The deceased was the only suspect though he was never charged. R. 41, lines 3-10. Based upon this event, Petitioner was the primary suspect when the deceased was shot. The police and others believed the death of the driver gave Petitioner a motive to kill the deceased. Defense counsel wanted to use this evidence to attack the investigation. R. 41, line 11 – R. 42, line 16.

The judge ruled that defense counsel could not present the evidence:

I wouldn’t at this point see any relevance to a defense that you’ve indicated to me that you have. If anything, it supplies motive for your client. And if it’s kind of a backhanded reputation of victim evidence, well, again, I don’t see where that’s relevant since you’re not putting up self-defense. And it really doesn’t seem to accomplish the point at all.

R. 43, lines 9-16.

Thereafter, the solicitor delivered his opening statement in the second trial. This statement was almost identical to his opening during the first trial, including the references to the history of the East Side. R. 71, line 19 – R. 79, line 14. He talked about Henry Laurens and his plan for the area – “the place where all the rich rice planters from Georgetown would come and build their vacation homes.” R. 73, lines 6-9. Again, he told the jurors the East Side had the “lowest literacy” rates in the city coupled with the “[h]ighest unemployment.” R. 74, lines 17-19. Although the area may not have the “most crime,” it was “one of the least-blessed neighborhoods” in Charleston. R. 74, lines 19-23. He candidly admitted that there were many people who witnessed Chisholm’s shooting, but that the jurors would not hear from many of them. He initially blamed this on the Genovese Effect or Bystander Effect. R. 75, lines 1-19.

The solicitor told the jurors they would not hear from some witnesses because of “selfish” reasons. R. 76, line 8.

In closing, the solicitor went right back to his trial theme – the lawlessness and violence of the East Side:

The kind of person who commits this crime, the kind of person who walks into a public park in the daytime hours, the kind of person who walks up with a gun outstretched and shoots a defenseless man playing cards, not once, not twice, not three, not four, but five times, in his back, in his chest, neck, and in his head, that’s the kind of person who knows the type of neighborhood the East Side is. That’s the type of person that knows that things that happen in the East Side tend to stay in the East Side.

To that kind of person, we’re outsiders. To that kind of person, we are not meant to be here. To that kind of person, we are not wanted to intervene. And this defendant, Tyrel Collins, was counting on that. Be we are here. We are here. And we are here because there are laws. There are laws in our society and there are laws that we are here to uphold. There are laws in civilized society.

R. 332, line 21 – R. 333, line 11. The solicitor reminded the jurors about the “little history lesson about the East Side” that had been delivered in opening. R. 333, lines 15-17. Further, the solicitor reminded the jurors that “about the history and culture of the East Side neighborhood of Charleston.” R. 333, lines 16-18.

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