ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

FEB 02 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Tyrel R. Collins,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000877

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

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

of Petitioner, p. 17). Simply claiming such evidence otherwise aids the defense case, however, is not enough to show relevance and admissibility under the evidentiary rules.

Where proffered evidence “does not serve as a defense to any of the offenses charged .. nor ... excuse or mitigate” the actions at issue, the proffered evidence “is not probative of any issue material to reaching a verdict.” *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008), *cert. denied* (S.C. Sup. Ct. 2009). “The rule is well-settled that in homicide cases, the defendant is permitted to introduce testimony concerning previous difficulties with the decedent. The rationale for allowing such evidence is that it is relevant to the issue of the animus of the parties as it relates to the demeanor each party had reason to expect from the other when they met at the time of the fatal difficulty.” *State v. Atchison*, 268 S.C. 588, 593-594, 235 S.E.2d 294, 296 (1977). Defense counsel conceded self-defense was not an issue in the case. (R. p. 39, lines 5-7). Therefore, the trial judge properly found the exception of Rule 404(a)(2) was not applicable and evidence of the victim’s character was not admissible. The Court of Appeals reasonably resolved there was no error, citing Rule 402 with the parenthetical, “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” (See App. p. 2). Further, the Court of Appeals also reasonably resolved Petitioner failed to show the evidence was otherwise relevant and admissible, citing *State v. Cope* which sets out the admissibility requirements of third party guilt evidence. (App. p. 2).

“Defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to present a full and complete defense, but this right does not supplant the rules of evidence and all proffered evidence or testimony must comply with any applicable evidentiary rules prior to admission.” *Lyles*, 379 S.C. at 343, 665 S.E.2d at 209. A general argument that another must have committed the offense is not sufficient for a third-party guilt presentation. *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 341, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013) (“...evidence of third-party guilt that only tends to raise a conjectural inference that the third party,

rather than the defendant, committed the crime should be excluded”) (citing *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 105, 16 S.E.2d 532, 534 (1941)).<sup>4</sup> See also *People v. McDowell*, No. 255813, 2005 WL 3115950, at \*1 (Mich. Ct. App. Nov. 22, 2005) (rejecting argument defendant denied a fair trial and opportunity to present his defense by disallowing evidence that victim “exhibited aggressive behavior and that other persons had a motive to kill decedent” when “evidence that other persons had reason to dislike decedent because of his aggressive behavior was irrelevant”). Defense counsel admitted he did not have sufficient evidence of identity of another shooter to make a third-party guilt presentation. (R. p. 40, lines 20-21). Thus, Petitioner’s “evidence,” such as it was, was not admissible under well-established state evidentiary boundaries as described in *Cope* and *Gregory*. The application of these rules does not offend Petitioner’s right to present a defense. See, e.g., *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 326-28 (2006) (“the Constitution permits” trial courts to exclude evidence where “its probative value is outweighed by ... other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the jury,” citing *Gregory* standard with favor). Thus, Petitioner has not shown that the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting his argument and affirming the trial judge’s ruling.

As to Petitioner’s “fair rebuttal” argument, (Brief of Petitioner, p. 18), this argument is not preserved for appeal. At the mistrial motion, Petitioner argued that it was important to know that the victim was “not just some innocent citizen sitting out there playing cards.” (R. p. 25, lines 3-5) (See also R. p. 39, lines 8-20, defense counsel arguing “not just” victim was “a bad guy” but “the

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner further concedes his theory of admissibility does not meet the third party guilt standard when he includes himself in the pool of individuals who may have had motive to kill the victim: “Here, petitioner was arguing the deceased’s character – that he was a legendary killer – made him a target of many people, and as such, *many people had as much, if not more, of a motive to kill the deceased than Petitioner did.*” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 17) (emphasis added).

most notorious person in that area ... accused of three different murders, but wasn't convicted of any one of those ... rumored to have killed anywhere from eight to a dozen people ... So if someone had killed Billy the Kid, it seems to me that the jury ought to know...").<sup>5</sup> He did not argue "fair rebuttal." Further, in the motion to prevent the second trial, defense counsel stated only that the State had commented in opening "the East Side is a high-crime area," and defense counsel "told the jury that ... the victim in the crime, was legendary in that area for being a killer." (R. p. 52, lines 18-25). In short, a "fair rebuttal" argument was not presented below as a basis to allow evidence and/or reference to evidence. It is procedurally barred from review on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 - 694 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."). The Court of Appeals, consistent with a finding the argument was not preserved, did not address "fair rebuttal" in its opinion. (See App. p. 2). At any rate, the argument is without merit.

"As a general rule, inflammatory remarks which are calculated to appeal to the passions or prejudices of a jury should be affirmatively condemned." *State v. Bennett*, 369 S.C. 219, 231, 632 S.E.2d 281, 288 (2006) (citing *S.C. State Highway Dep't v. Nasim*, 255 S.C. 406, 411, 179 S.E.2d 211, 213 (1971)). "[W]hether or not the particular arguments are so prejudicial as to constitute reversible error depends upon the nature of the utterances and the circumstances under which they were made." *S.C. State Highway Dep't v. Nasim*, 255 S.C. at 411, 179 S.E.2d at 213. Because the context is critical, our Supreme Court has found "argument of counsel is not so inflammatory as to

---

<sup>5</sup> The comment – if not based upon admissible evidence or defensive theory – is essentially one urging jury nullification. The trial court "...may block defense attorneys' attempts to serenade a jury with the siren song of nullification...." *United States v. Sepulveda*, 15 F.3d 1161, 1190 (1st Cir. 1993).

constitute a ground for reversal where counsel responds in kind to previous argument of opposing counsel.” *Dial v. Niggel Assocs., Inc.*, 333 S.C. 253, 258, 509 S.E.2d 269, 271 (1998). Yet, even though a response may be invited, counsel making the response may not comment on something not supported by the evidence as this undermines the basic fairness of the trial. *See Vaughn v. State*, 362 S.C. 163, 170-171, 607 S.E.2d 72, 75-76 (2004). *See also United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 8 (1985) (“It is clear that counsel on both sides of the table share a duty to confine arguments to the jury within proper bounds.”).

Again, defense counsel’s statement centered only on the victim’s bad character, asserting he “was legendary in this area as a killer.” (R. p. 22, lines 19-22; p. 26, lines 4-23). In discussion as to whether the mistrial was necessary, defense counsel referred to a newspaper article that suggested the victim was a criminal who had avoided prison. (R. p. 27, lines 7-18). The judge found that a newspaper article was not admissible. (R. p. 32, lines 4-9). *See generally United States v. Baker*, 432 F.3d 1189, 1211-1212 (11th Cir. 2005) (“The Miami Herald articles are also inadmissible hearsay, as they are relevant primarily to establish the truth of their contents—the identity of the gunmen.”); *United States v. Mathis*, 550 F.2d 180, 182 (4th Cir. 1976) (“A newspaper article connecting a witness to a robbery was inadmissible hearsay, even for purposes of impeachment.”). Petitioner fails to show any proper character evidence that even could be offered. See Rule 405, SCRE, Methods of Proving Character (evidence offered by opinion, but specific instances may be inquired into on cross-examination only if it “is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense”). Even so, the State’s comments did not “open the door” for defense counsel’s comments or any subsequent testimony.

Counsel may open the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence by his opening comments. *State v. Dunlap*, 353 S.C. 539, 579 S.E.2d 318 (2003). As a first and basic point, the State’s

comments on the high crime *area* do not open the door to the victim's *character*. Compare *State v. Young*, 378 S.C. 101, 106, 661 S.E.2d 387, 389 (2008) ("... Young's testimony that he hated to see a woman cry did not open the door for the admission of his prior CDV and CSC convictions. Reading Young's testimony in its proper context, Young was not offering evidence of a specific character trait towards women in general. Rather, the isolated statement used to justify admission of the prior CDV and CSC convictions was simply part of Young's narrative recounting his version of the events that occurred on the night in question."), with *State v. Dunlap*, 353 S.C. 539, 541, 579 S.E.2d 318, 319 (2003) ("The opening statement created the impression that petitioner had no prior connection to the sale of narcotics. In reality, petitioner was not a mere drug user, but an individual who sought to 'elevate' his status to that of a drug dealer" thus "counsel opened the door to the introduction of evidence rebutting the contention that petitioner was merely an addict"). However, as noted above, Petitioner never proffered any evidence that could be admitted to prove character. Counsel's comments are not evidence, *Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 64, 624 S.E.2d 649, 653 (2006) ("It is well established that counsel's statements regarding the facts of a case and counsel's arguments are not admissible evidence."); and, as noted above, the newspaper article was inadmissible.

"[A] proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been." *State v. Santiago*, 370 S.C. 153, 163, 634 S.E.2d 23, 29 (Ct.App. 2006). To the extent the proffer was only counsel's comment and the newspaper article, there could be no

acceptable character evidence to admit under an “opened the door” theory.<sup>6</sup> However, the State’s comments did not open a door, or invite a response, on victim’s character simply by describing the high crime area. Further, the argument here is speculative in nature as the motion was made based on the prior comments before the mistrial. At any rate, the comments later given were generally consistent describing the history of the high crime area. Again, that does not open the door to the victim’s character as it does nothing to embrace or describe the victim’s specific character or a possible legitimate defense to the crime.

In sum, the record fully and fairly supports the trial judge’s ruling – the evidence (or suggestion the victim was guilty of murder) was not relevant. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed his ruling. Respondent urges this Court to either dismiss as improvidently granted or affirm the Court of Appeals.

---

<sup>6</sup> As recounted above, in pre-trial arguments at the subsequent trial, defense counsel offered a possibility that Petitioner had motive to seek out the victim after an episode of violence on a bridge where “someone shot into that car and killed the driver,” and the police suspected the victim. (R. p. 41, lines 3-10). The judge expressed, “If anything, it supplies motive for your client. And if it’s kind of a backhanded reputation of victim evidence” it is not “relevant since you’re not putting up self-defense.” (R. p. 43, lines 9-16). To the extent Petitioner would also rely on defense counsel’s description of this episode as a relevant proffer, as the trial judge correctly found, this additional offer was of no moment – Petitioner did not assert self-defense and he did not identify anyone else as the actual shooter for admission under a third party guilt theory.

## II.

The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the trial judge's determination that the Double Jeopardy Clause did not bar the trial. The record supports Judge Nicholson did not abuse his discretion in granting a mistrial where defense counsel's opening statement in the prior trial asserting the victim "was legendary in this area as a killer" so infected the trial with unfairness that a mistrial was warranted pursuant to *Arizona v. Washington*. Consequently, the Double Jeopardy Clause did not bar the subsequent trial.

### Relevant Facts:

Defense counsel began his opening statement in the September 2013 trial as follows:

Good morning. The solicitor talked about the East Side. This is the East Side, the common area. And Solomon Chisolm was legendary in this area as a killer.

(R. p. 22, lines 19-22).

The State immediately objected and Judge Nicholson excused the jury to discuss the objection on the record. (R. p. 22, line 23 – p. 23, line 17). The solicitor argued a curative instruction for such a significant and prejudicial error was inadequate:

... Solomon Chisolm was never convicted of any homicide. I know that's not the same as not being a killer, but he has not - - for someone who has no burden of prove anything, no obligation to prove anything, he can't just come right out and drop a bomb like that, something unsubstantiated that he doesn't have to substantiate. That's judge slinging mud and trying to prejudice this jury, and I think [it] has.

(R. p. 24, lines 17-24).

Defense counsel stated: "I believe it is relevant. He's not just some innocent citizen sitting out there playing cards." (R. p. 25, lines 3-5). Judge Nicholson noted the clear distinction between commenting on a reputation for violence and asserting someone was "a legendary killer." (R. p. 25, line 6 – p. 26, line 25). Judge Nicholson found the comment "totally improper." (R. p. 25, lines 8-9). After extensive discussion to determine if Petitioner had proper evidence to present,

and a basis to present the evidence, Judge Nicholson found the assertion in opening was improper, and the assertion lacked foundation according to settle rules. (R. p. 25, line 17 – p. 35, line 10). Judge Nicholson granted the mistrial motion, and ordered a contempt hearing be held the next day. (R. p. 35, lines 11-15).

On January 3, 2014, the defense filed a motion to dismiss the case asserting “the mistrial was improvidently granted and not dictated by manifest necessity. *State v. Prince*, 279 S.C. 30 (1983).” (R. p. 374).

In pre-trial, after the judge heard the State’s motion to determine relevance of the victim’s reputation, (see Issue 1, *supra*), the defense argued the motion to dismiss. Counsel noted that he had provided the transcript to the judge, and highlighted the portion that the State objected when defense counsel commented that the victim “was legendary in that area for being a killer.” (R. p. 52, lines 19-25). Counsel argued the mistrial was “improperly granted and not dictated by manifest necessity.” (R. p. 53, lines 2-3). He argued a curative instruction could have been given, and that his comments in opening were not evidence. (R. p. 53, lines 4-5). The judge found:

... I think Judge Nicholson ... acted within his sound discretion to grant the mistrial. And there was clearly a misunderstanding of what you could and couldn’t say. And it was brought about by the defense, not by the prosecution.

(R. p. 58, lines 18-22).

Consequently, the judge found the prosecution was not barred and denied defense counsel’s motion. (R. p. 58, lines 22-24). The Court of Appeals summarily affirmed citing the following authorities:

2 . As to whether Collins’s second trial was barred by double jeopardy because a mistrial was improvidently granted in the first trial: *State v. Coleman*, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Under the law of double jeopardy, a defendant may

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